# Fiducial-Cosmology-dependent systematics for the DESI 2024 BAO Analysis

A. Pérez-Fernández<sup>®</sup>,<sup>1,2</sup> L. Medina-Varela,<sup>3</sup> R. Ruggeri<sup>®</sup>,<sup>4,5</sup> M. Vargas-Magaña<sup>®</sup>,<sup>2</sup> H. Seo<sup>®</sup>,<sup>6</sup> N. Padmanabhan,<sup>7</sup> M. Ishak<sup>®</sup>,<sup>3</sup> J. Aguilar,<sup>8</sup> S. Ahlen<sup>®</sup>,<sup>9</sup> S. Alam<sup>®</sup>,<sup>10</sup> O. Alves,<sup>11</sup> S. Brieden<sup>®</sup>,<sup>12</sup> D. Brooks,<sup>13</sup> A. Carnero Rosell<sup>®</sup>,<sup>14,15</sup> X. Chen<sup>®</sup>,<sup>7</sup> T. Claybaugh,<sup>8</sup> S. Cole<sup>®</sup>,<sup>16</sup> K. Dawson,<sup>17</sup> A. de la Macorra<sup>®</sup>,<sup>2</sup> A. de Mattia<sup>®</sup>,<sup>18</sup> Arjun Dey<sup>®</sup>,<sup>19</sup> Z. Ding<sup>®</sup>,<sup>20</sup> P. Doel,<sup>13</sup> K. Fanning<sup>®</sup>,<sup>21,22</sup> C. Garcia-Quintero<sup>®</sup>,<sup>3</sup> E. Gaztañaga,<sup>23,24,25</sup> S. Gontcho A Gontcho<sup>®</sup>,<sup>8</sup> G. Gutierrez,<sup>26</sup> K. Honscheid,<sup>27,28,29</sup> S. Juneau,<sup>19</sup> D. Kirkby<sup>®</sup>,<sup>30</sup> T. Kisner<sup>®</sup>,<sup>8</sup> A. Lambert,<sup>8</sup> M. Landriau<sup>®</sup>,<sup>8</sup> J. Lasker<sup>®</sup>,<sup>31</sup> L. Le Guillou<sup>®</sup>,<sup>32</sup> M. Manera<sup>®</sup>,<sup>33,34</sup> P. Martini<sup>®</sup>,<sup>27,35,29</sup> A. Meisner<sup>®</sup>,<sup>19</sup> J. Mena-Fernández<sup>®</sup>,<sup>36</sup> R. Miquel,<sup>37,34</sup> J. Moustakas<sup>®</sup>,<sup>38</sup> A. D. Myers,<sup>39</sup> S. Nadathur<sup>®</sup>,<sup>24</sup> J. A. Newman<sup>®</sup>,<sup>40</sup> G. Niz<sup>®</sup>,<sup>41,42</sup> E. Paillas<sup>®</sup>,<sup>43,44</sup> N. Palanque-Delabrouille<sup>®</sup>,<sup>18,8</sup> W. J. Percival<sup>®</sup>,<sup>43,45,44</sup> C. Poppett,<sup>8,46,47</sup> F. Prada<sup>®</sup>,<sup>48</sup> M. Rashkovetskyi<sup>®</sup>,<sup>49</sup> A. Rocher<sup>®</sup>,<sup>50,18</sup> G. Rossi,<sup>51</sup> A. Sanchez,<sup>1</sup> E. Sanchez<sup>®</sup>,<sup>52</sup> M. Schubnell,<sup>53,11</sup> D. Sprayberry,<sup>19</sup> G. Tarlé<sup>®</sup>,<sup>11</sup> D. Valcin<sup>®</sup>,<sup>6</sup>

**B.** A. Weaver,<sup>19</sup> J. Yu<sup>0</sup>,<sup>50</sup> H. Zou<sup>0</sup>,<sup>54</sup>

Affiliations are in Appendix C

E-mail: aperez@mpe.mpg.de

**Abstract.** When measuring the Baryon Acoustic Oscillations (BAO) scale from galaxy surveys, one typically assumes a fiducial cosmology when converting redshift measurements into comoving distances and also when defining input parameters for the reconstruction algorithm. A parameterised template for the model to be fitted is also created based on a (possibly different) fiducial cosmology. This model reliance can be considered a form of data compression, and the data is then analysed allowing that the true answer is different from the fiducial cosmology assumed. In this study, we evaluate the impact of the fiducial cosmology assumed in the BAO analysis of the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument (DESI) survey Data Release 1 (DR1) on the final measurements in DESI 2024 III. We utilise a suite of mock galaxy catalogues with survey realism that mirrors the DESI DR1 tracers: the bright galaxy sample (BGS), the luminous red galaxies (LRG), the emission line galaxies (ELG) and the quasars (QSO), spanning a redshift range from 0.1 to 2.1. We compare the four secondary ABACUSSUMMIT cosmologies against DESI's fiducial cosmology (Planck 2018). The secondary cosmologies explored include a lower cold dark matter density, a thawing dark energy universe, a higher number of effective species, and a lower amplitude of matter clustering. The mocks are processed through the BAO pipeline by consistently iterating the grid, template, and reconstruction reference cosmologies. We determine a conservative systematic contribution to the error of 0.1% for both the isotropic and anisotropic dilation parameters  $\alpha_{\rm iso}$  and  $\alpha_{\rm AP}$ . We then directly test the impact of the fiducial cosmology on DESI DR1 data.

# Contents

1	Introduction					
2	Role of the Fiducial cosmology2.1Cosmologies tested2.2Geometrical distortions2.3BAO model2.4Reconstruction	<b>3</b> 3 4 5 8				
3	Mocks & Data					
	3.1 Mocks	9				
	3.2 DR1 Data	10				
4	Methods					
	4.1 Two-point clustering statistics	11				
	4.2 Covariance matrices	12				
	4.3 Reconstruction with different cosmologies	12				
	4.4 BAO fitting	13				
	4.5 Parameterising the difference in the BAO scales	15				
<b>5</b>	Results					
	5.1 Testing fiducial cosmology systematics with Abacus-2 DR1 mocks	16				
	5.2 Analysing DR1 data with different cosmologies	18				
	5.3 Grid vs. Template cosmology	18				
6	Summary and Conclusions	21				
7	Data Availability	24				
$\mathbf{A}$	A Geometrical distortions in configuration space					
в	B Effect of $N_{\text{eff}}$ in the template					
С	C Author Affiliations					

# 1 Introduction

The Baryon Acoustic Oscillations (BAO) method has established itself as one of the major probes for the nature of dark energy over the last two decades [1, 2]. The journey from the first detections of the BAO imprint in the late-time two-point statistics of galaxies [3, 4] to the highly precise measurements from BOSS (Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey [5]) and eBOSS (extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey [6]) has enabled scientists to gain crucial insights into the expansion history of the Universe and to refine their methods in the process. The Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument (DESI) [7] is a Stage-IV dark energy experiment that will build upon the success of its predecessors by measuring the BAO signal with unparalleled precision as one of its primary goals [8]. DESI demonstrated its potential at the outset by reporting its first BAO detection using only a two-month data set [9, 10], followed by an Early Data Release (EDR) [11, 12]. DESI recently released its first BAO [13] and cosmological analyses [14] using the first year of the data (Data Release 1, DR1 hereafter [15]). This paper elucidates the potential systematic error stemming from the fiducial cosmology and the relevant robustness test that were integrated into [13].

Measuring the BAO scale from a galaxy catalogue usually requires a series of assumptions that could potentially lead to systematic errors, in terms of both precision and accuracy, if not addressed carefully. In particular, the choice of fiducial cosmology could have an impact on the way the results are obtained and interpreted. Although many previous BAO studies have demonstrated robustness against such choices, considering the unparalleled precision in cosmological measurements provided by DESI data, it is imperative to explicitly assess its contribution to the systematic error budget.

For the standard BAO analysis, the choice of reference cosmology enters in three stages. i) First, spectroscopic galaxy surveys have traditionally analysed the galaxy clustering after transforming the observed coordinates of the galaxies to the comoving space, by assuming a redshift-to-distance conversion based on a set of the cosmological parameters. In this work, we will refer to this set of cosmological parameters as the *grid* cosmology. An incorrect redshift-to-distance conversion will introduce an anisotropic distortion to the signal, due to the so-called Alcock Paczynski effect [16]. ii) Secondly, as opposed to using the entire shape of the clustering, which is more similar in spirit to a CMB analysis, the BAO fitting procedure utilises a fixed-cosmology *template*, for which a fiducial cosmology is chosen in order to obtain the base template. The BAO location in the template is set by the sound horizon scale  $r_d^{\text{tem}}$ . This template is then allowed to be *horizontally* shifted, allowing us to estimate the true sound horizon relative to the sound horizon scale assumed. If the redshift-to-distance relation we assumed was incorrect, this shift will also include the difference between the true and assumed redshift-to-distance relation. This is the idea behind the use of BAO as a standard ruler, and offers the advantage of providing model-independent distance constraints. That is, despite using different grid and template cosmologies for the BAO analysis in fiducial comoving space, we naturally anticipate our derived result to correspond to the same BAO scales in observable space. iii) Lastly, the state-of-the-art methodology involves post-processing the galaxy catalogues by applying the *reconstruction* technique [17]. In broad terms, the reconstruction algorithm enhances the BAO signal by partly undoing the non-linear effects of large-scale displacements. To apply reconstruction, it is necessary to have an estimate of the linear bias  $b_1(z)$  of the given tracer, as well as the growth rate f(z), both of which depend on a reference cosmology. It is common practice to choose the grid, template and reconstruction fiducial cosmologies to be the same for self-consistency, although they are, in principle, independent assumptions.

Several studies have investigated the choice of a fiducial cosmology as a source of systematic error. In particular, [18] tested the accuracy of assuming a  $r_d^{\text{tem}}/r_d$  rescaling for the template, considering variations for the  $\Lambda$ CDM parameters as well as the sum of neutrino masses  $\sum m_{\nu}$  and the effective number of relativistic species  $N_{\text{eff}}$ . Conversely, [19] conducted an analytical study of the impact of the assumption of the wrong cosmology for reconstruction, making use of Lagrangian Perturbation Theory. A comprehensive exploration of the effect of the template and reconstruction cosmologies can be found in [20], where halo catalogues with different underlying cosmologies were used. The robustness of the fixed-cosmology template approach was probed in [21], who considered models with different values for  $N_{\text{eff}}$ , in addition to Early Dark Energy (EDE) and Dark Neutrino Interactions (DNI). In the context of modified gravity, [22] found a negligible bias from the BAO standard analysis considering Horndeski models. Most recently, [23] have examined the use of non-flat cosmologies, varying either  $\Omega_m$  or  $\Omega_{\Lambda}$ , for both the grid and template cosmologies. The majority of these studies share a common emphasis on the reliability of the BAO method, yet simultaneously report non-zero potential errors for extreme cosmological scenarios which deviate significantly from the  $\Lambda$ CDM concordance cosmology from Planck 2018 [24]. Additionally, in the context of BAO measurements from spectroscopic surveys, many of them have been accompanied with an estimate of the corresponding systematic error; for example [25] for BOSS, or [26–31] for eBOSS.

This work forms part of a series of studies intended as supporting papers for the DESI DR1 BAO publication [13]. Each of them is centered on a different part of the analysis, such as: theoretical and modelling systematics [32], reconstruction [33, 34], overlapping tracers [35], covariance matrices [36–38], HOD related systematics [39, 40], imaging systematics [41], spectroscopic systematics [42] and the blinding scheme [43].

This paper is structured as follows. Section 2 offers an overview of how the choice of fiducial cosmology is accounted for; in particular the cosmologies under consideration are introduced in 2.1. In Section 3, we present the mock catalogues used for our tests, as well as the blinded and unblinded DESI DR1 data. The methodology is described in Section 4. The results are reported in Section 5. We conclude in Section 6.

## 2 Role of the Fiducial cosmology

In this section, we first present the secondary cosmologies tested. We then examine in detail the three instances where the fiducial cosmology is involved: the redshift-to-distance relation, the template, and the reconstruction processing (see Section 1).

#### 2.1 Cosmologies tested

Five different sets of cosmological parameters are considered in this study, all of them coming from the ABACUSSUMMIT set of cosmologies [44]. We compare the four secondary ABACUS-SUMMIT cosmologies against DESI's fiducial cosmology [13], which is also the primary ABA-CUSSUMMIT cosmology and the Planck 2018 [24] best-fit ACDM cosmology. The secondary cosmologies represent a set of substantial variations from Planck 2018, as described in the original reference [44]. Table 1 provides a short description of the different cosmologies, along with the aliases we adopt to refer to them throughout this work. A few details are described below. We note that given the nature of the BAO compression, the main quantities of interest are not directly the differences in cosmological parameters, but the effect these have on the expected distance measurements through the geometrical distortions and the sound horizon. This is addressed in the following sections.

The baseline cosmology is, again, the Planck 2018 cosmology, for which  $\omega_b = 0.02237$ ,  $\omega_{\rm cdm} = 0.1200$ , h = 0.6736,  $N_{\rm ur} = 2.0328$  and a massive neutrino species with  $\omega_{\nu} = 0.00064420$ . The low- $\Omega_m$  cosmology adopts parameters from WMAP9 combined with ACT and SPT data [45]. It is characterised by a reduced cold dark matter density  $\omega_{\rm cdm} = 0.1134$  (resulting in  $\Omega_m = 0.2761$ ), demonstrating the impact of considering different cosmic microwave background data than Planck. The thawing-DE cosmology introduces a dynamic dark energy model,  $w_0 w_a$ CDM, permitting exploration of how varying dark energy dynamics affect the universe's expansion history. This model is parameterised by the dark energy equation of state  $p/c^2 \rho = w_0 + w_a(1-a)$ , where a is the scale factor, with  $w_0 = -0.7$ ,  $w_a = -0.5$  [46, 47] (we named it 'thawing-DE' because  $w_0 > -1$ ). With the high- $N_{\rm eff}$  cosmology, we examine variations in the effective number of neutrino species, drawing upon the results from [24]<sup>1</sup>. This model assumes  $N_{\rm ur} = 2.6868$  ( $N_{\rm eff} = 3.70$ ), affecting the radiation energy density of the early universe. Lastly, the low- $\sigma_8$  cosmology represents a baseline  $\Lambda$ CDM with a focus on the amplitude of matter clustering, adopting a lower  $\sigma_8 = 0.75$  value. These cosmologies retain consistent parameters across models, including the optical depth to reionization  $\tau = 0.0544$ , a specific number of distinct species  $N_{\rm ncdm} = 1$ , and a massive neutrino density  $\omega_{\nu}$  equal to the value from the baseline cosmology.

Name	Description	Alias
c000	Baseline ACDM, Planck 2018 base plikHM+TT, TE, EE+low $\ell$ +lowE+lensing	baseline
c001	WMAP9+ACT+SPT LCDM, Calabrese++ 2017	low- $\Omega_m$
c002	wCDM with that model $w_0 = -0.7, w_a = -0.5$	thawing-DE
c003	$N_{\rm eff} = 3.70$ , base nnu plikHM+TT+low $\ell$ +lowE+Riess18+BAO	high- $N_{ m eff}$
c004	Low $\sigma_8$ matter = 0.75, otherwise Baseline $\Lambda CDM$	low- $\sigma_8$

Table 1. Short description of the cosmologies considered in this study, as presented in https: //abacussummit.readthedocs.io/en/latest/cosmologies.html. Additional details can be found in the text, as well as in the original reference [44]. We made use of the parameter files for CLASS available on the ABACUSSUMMIT website above.

#### 2.2 Geometrical distortions

In a spectroscopic survey, we have access to the angular coordinates and redshift for each tracer, which are later mapped into comoving coordinates to calculate the clustering statistics. In order to do this, a cosmology has to be assumed for the redshift-to-distance conversion (the *grid* cosmology, see Section 1). If the assumed cosmological parameters do not match the *true* underlying cosmology, the distance measurements will be subjected to an anisotropic dilation, called the Alcock-Paczynski (AP) effect [16], quantified by the dilation parameters

$$q_{\parallel}(z) = \frac{D_{\rm H}(z)}{D_{\rm H}^{\rm grid}(z)}, \qquad q_{\perp}(z) = \frac{D_{\rm M}(z)}{D_{\rm M}^{\rm grid}(z)},$$
 (2.1)

along and across the line of sight, respectively. Here,  $D_{\rm H}(z) = c/H(z)$  is the Hubble distance and  $D_{\rm M}(z) = (1+z)D_{\rm A}(z)$  is the comoving angular diameter distance, defined in terms of  $D_{\rm A}(z)$  the angular diameter distance. The quantities  $D_{\rm H}^{\rm grid}(z)$  and  $D_{\rm M}^{\rm grid}(z)$  are the corresponding values of  $D_{\rm H}(z)$  and  $D_{\rm M}(z)$  from the grid cosmology. In principle, the ratios in Equation 2.1 depend on redshift, however they are approximated to be constant and evaluated at the effective redshift of the sample. The impact of this approximation was estimated to be negligible in [32].

Alternatively, one can measure the AP distortions by defining

$$q_{\rm iso}(z) = \left(q_{\parallel}(z)q_{\perp}(z)^2\right)^{1/3} = \frac{D_{\rm V}(z)}{D_{\rm V}^{\rm grid}(z)},\tag{2.2}$$

$$q_{\rm AP}(z) = \frac{q_{\parallel}(z)}{q_{\perp}(z)} = \frac{D_{\rm H}(z)D_{\rm M}^{\rm grid}(z)}{D_{\rm M}(z)D_{\rm H}^{\rm grid}(z)},$$
(2.3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The chains base\_nnu\_plikHM\_TT\_lowl\_lowE\_Riess18\_post\_BAO from [24] were used in [44], who averaged those for which  $3.595 < N_{\text{eff}} < 3.90$ .

which quantify the overall volume rescaling and degree of anisotropy, respectively; and where  $D_{\rm V}(z) = \left(D_{\rm H}(z)D_{\rm M}(z)^2\right)^{1/3}$  is the spherically averaged distance. In this fashion, the power spectrum measured in the fiducial comoving grid is related to the true power spectrum via

$$P^{\rm obs}(k,\mu) = \frac{1}{q_{\rm iso}^3} P(k'[k,\mu;q_{\rm iso},q_{\rm AP}],\mu'[k,\mu;q_{\rm iso},q_{\rm AP}]),$$
(2.4)

where k is the wave vector,  $\mu$  the cosine of the angle between k and the line of sight and the factor  $1/q_{iso}^3$  accounts for the volume rescaling. The prime coordinates denote the *true* coordinates, which can be written in terms of the *grid* coordinates as

$$k'(k,\mu;q_{\rm iso},q_{\rm AP}) = \frac{q_{\rm AP}^{1/3}k}{q_{\rm iso}} \left[1 + \mu^2 \left(\frac{1}{q_{\rm AP}^2} - 1\right)\right]^{1/2}$$
(2.5)

$$\mu'(k,\mu;q_{\rm iso},q_{\rm AP}) = \frac{\mu}{q_{\rm AP} \left[1 + \mu^2 \left(\frac{1}{q_{\rm AP}^2} - 1\right)\right]^{1/2}}.$$
(2.6)

The analogous transformation in configuration space can be found in Appendix A.

Figure 1 shows the q dilation parameters as function of redshift for the cosmologies presented in section 2.1, assuming the **baseline** cosmology as the true cosmology. The redshift-to-distance relations under consideration introduce geometric distortions as large as 7-9% in  $q_{\perp}$  and  $q_{\parallel}$  (the **thawing-DE** case).

#### 2.3 BAO model

In the standard BAO method, the model is constructed starting from a linear power spectrum template, which is computed once for a fixed set of cosmological parameters. The BAO model for the galaxy power spectrum in redshift space is phenomenological in nature and typically has the form

$$P_g(k,\mu) = \mathcal{B}(k,\mu)P_{\rm nw}(k) + \mathcal{C}(k,\mu)P_{\rm w}(k)$$
(2.7)

where  $P_{nw}(k)$  refers to the no-wiggle (smooth) component of the linear power spectrum  $P_{lin}(k)$ and  $P_w(k) = P_{lin}(k) - P_{nw}(k)$  denotes the oscillatory component. Here  $\mathcal{B}(k,\mu)$  accounts for the redshift space distortions (RSD) and linear bias, while  $\mathcal{C}(k,\mu)$  additionally includes an anisotropic damping factor which describes the smearing of the BAO signal due to bulk flows. Both terms have traditionally included the Fingers-of-God (FoG) damping factor, however [32] have recently shown arguments in favour of applying the FoG damping only to the smooth component. This is the convention adopted in [13] and in this work.

Under the assumption that the constraining power comes exclusively from the BAO scale, the geometrical distortions described above are incorporated into the template as free parameters which are later reinterpreted as

$$\alpha_{\parallel}(z) = \frac{r_d^{\text{tem}}}{r_d} q_{\parallel}(z) \qquad \alpha_{\perp}(z) = \frac{r_d^{\text{tem}}}{r_d} q_{\perp}(z), \tag{2.8}$$

where the superscript 'tem' indicates the *template* cosmology. Alternatively,

$$\alpha_{\rm iso}(z) = (\alpha_{\parallel}(z)\alpha_{\perp}^2)^{1/3} = \frac{r_d^{\rm tem}}{r_d}q_{\rm iso}(z), \qquad \alpha_{\rm AP}(z) = \frac{\alpha_{\parallel}(z)}{\alpha_{\perp}(z)} = q_{\rm AP}(z). \tag{2.9}$$

It is assumed that at linear order, the net effect of fixing the template is an isotropic rescaling of the distances which can be compressed in the sound horizon ratio. If there were



**Figure 1**. Dilation parameters as a function of redshift due to the geometrical distortions introduced when assuming the wrong cosmology for the redshift to distance conversion.

no geometrical effects (i.e.  $q_{iso}(z) = q_{AP}(z) = 1$ ), then the position of the peaks and troughs in  $P_w(k)$  would ideally rescale as  $P_w\left(\frac{r_d^{\text{tem}}}{r_d}k\right)$ . The bottom panel of Figure 2 shows the shifted oscillations for the templates for the different cosmologies, assuming a true cosmology equal to the **baseline** cosmology. The figure shows that this scaling is indeed accurate, with only slight variations in the wiggle amplitude that are marginalised out within the model.

Figure 3 displays the expected  $\alpha$  values as a function of redshift for the different cosmologies assuming a true cosmology equal to the **baseline** cosmology. This demonstrates the combined impact of geometrical distortions from the grid cosmology and the influence of



Figure 2. The top panel shows the linear power spectrum template at z = 0 for the cosmologies listed in Table 1. The middle panel is singling out the BAO part  $P_{\rm w}(k)$ , where we can see the effect of the different sound horizon scales for each cosmology. The bottom panel shows the alignment of the oscillatory pattern after correcting for the difference in the sound horizon scales.



Figure 3. Dilation parameters as a function of redshift assuming the baseline cosmology as the true cosmology. The values for  $\alpha_{iso}$  are shifted differently for each cosmology with respect to  $q_{iso}$  owing to the sound horizon ratio. The effect of the anisotropic parameter  $\alpha_{AP}$  comes exclusively from the grid.

the sound horizon scale on the measured BAO scales. It is important to note that while the net effect may be less pronounced than the individual effects, it is these individual effects that challenge the robustness of the BAO analysis.

#### 2.4 Reconstruction

The reconstruction technique has been extensively used in past BAO analyses and has proved to be a robust way to improve the BAO measurement by mitigating the degradation of the signal due to non-linear evolution. A typical reconstruction algorithm starts by smoothing the observed density field  $\delta_g(\mathbf{k})$  with a kernel  $S(\mathbf{k})$ , which is usually chosen to be Gaussian. The result is then divided by the linear RSD term, in order to define the displacement field

$$\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{k}) = -\frac{\mathbf{k}}{k^2} \frac{S(\mathbf{k})\delta_g(\mathbf{k})}{(b+f\mu^2)},\tag{2.10}$$

which at large scales should be a fairly good estimate of the negative of the Lagrangian displacement field in the Zeldovich approximation. From here, two fields are constructed:  $\delta_d(\mathbf{k})$ , the displaced data field; and  $\delta_s(\mathbf{k})$  the shifted random field<sup>2</sup>. From which the reconstructed field is obtained as  $\delta_r(\mathbf{k}) = \delta_d(\mathbf{k}) - \delta_s(\mathbf{k})$ . In this work we focus on the Rec-Sym reconstruction convention [48], just as in [13, 32, 34], for which both the data and randoms catalogues are treated symmetrically by being displaced with  $R\mathbf{D}$ , where R is the RSD matrix defined as  $R_{ij} = (\delta_{ij} + fn_in_j)$ , with  $\hat{n}$  the line of sight unit vector.

Assuming a wrong cosmology directly affects the computation of the displacement field via the AP distortions. Note that one would usually use the same grid cosmology when doing reconstruction as the one used when computing the 2 point statistics. The change of coordinates will affect our determination of the density field  $\delta_g(k,\mu) \rightarrow q_{\rm iso}^3 \delta_g(k',\mu')^3$ . Additionally,  $b_1(z)$  and f(z) are cosmology-dependent and degenerate with the amplitude of the matter power spectrum, usually quantified by  $\sigma_8(z)^4$ . For instance, from the ABACUSSUMMIT cosmologies, given that the grid is the same for the **baseline** and  $low-\sigma_8$  cosmologies, the clustering in comoving coordinates will be the same pre-reconstruction (or before reconstruction), but our estimate for the linear bias will be larger if we choose the  $low-\sigma_8$  cosmology as the reference cosmology, therefore underestimating the magnitude of the displacement field (Eq. 2.10).

#### 3 Mocks & Data

#### 3.1 Mocks

For this study we make use of the Abacus-2 DR1 set of mocks introduced in [13] and detailed in [50]. Abacus-2 is a suite of 25 'CutSky' mock galaxy catalogues derived from the ABACUSSUMMIT high-accuracy N-body simulations [44]. The realisations used to produce these mock catalogues correspond to the 25 boxes for the primary cosmology (c000 in the ABACUSSUMMIT nomenclature, DESI's fiducial cosmology, which we refer to as our baseline cosmology). Each ABACUSSUMMIT box contains a total of 6912<sup>3</sup> particles, with each particle carrying a mass of  $2 \times 10^9 h^{-1} M_{\odot}$ . Dark matter halos were identified with the COMPASO halo finder [51] and subsequently cleaned as described in [52]. The next step consisted in populating the halo catalogues with a halo occupation distribution (HOD) model, making use of the ABACUSHOD code [53].

These mocks were calibrated to final DESI EDR data including all systematic effects and instrument corrections [54–56]. The cubic boxes of 2  $h^{-1}$ Gpc were turned into 'CutSky'

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ The Landy-Szalay estimator for the correlation function and the FKP-based estimator for the power spectrum (see Sec. 4.1) require a data sample and a random catalogue. The post-reconstruction (after reconstruction) estimators require, in addition, a random catalogue that will be shifted following the displacement field.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ The additional volume factor comes from the change in the volume element when computing the Fourier transform. See, for example, Eq. 3.3 in [19].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The parameter  $\sigma_8$  quantifies the RMS fluctuations in spheres of 8  $h^{-1}$  Mpc. For cosmologies with different values of h,  $\sigma_8$  characterises different scales. The alternative parameter  $\sigma_{12}$  has been proposed in [49], which is defined as the RMS variance in scales of 12 Mpc.

mocks that reproduced the geometry and the radial distribution of the DESI DR1 data for each galaxy/quasar samples. The volume of those boxes was not sufficient to enclose the DESI DR1 footprint, therefore, we replicated the simulation boxes to fit the entire DESI DR1 footprint, as described in [50]. The catalogues with the imprinted survey geometry were then converted to data-like files, adding the requisite columns necessary for the DESI fiber assignment loop to work. This step includes assigning the correct priorities and number of possible observations, depending on the target type. Next, each realisation is run through the fiber assignment loop. In this work, we utilise a version of the Abacus-2 DR1 mocks processed with the 'fast-fiberassign' method described in [57].

Finally, the catalogues are processed through the Large Scale Struture (LSS) pipeline [58], producing clustering catalogues with the same geometry, n(z) and completeness properties as the data. The following redshift ranges were considered for the different tracers: BGS: 0.1 < z < 0.4, LRG: 0.4 < z < 1.1, ELG: 0.8 < z < 1.6, QSO:  $0.8 < z < 2.1^5$ .

#### 3.2 DR1 Data

**Overview** The DESI Data Release 1 (DR1) [15] encompasses observations made using the DESI instrument on the Mayall Telescope at Kitt Peak, Arizona. These observations were conducted during the main survey operations from May 14, 2021, to June 14, 2022, following a period of survey validation [11]. The dataset comprises a significant portion of the sky, systematically observed to capture a diverse array of celestial targets using an efficient tile-based observing strategy.

DESI's unique capability to measure the spectra of 5,000 targets simultaneously is facilitated by robotic positioners that precisely place fibers on the focal plane corresponding to target celestial coordinates [59–61]. The light from these fibers is directed to ten spectrographs, providing high-quality spectral data. The DR1 dataset was collected through observations designated as 'tiles,' each representing a specific sky position with targets assigned to robotic fiber positioners. The observations are split into 'bright' and 'dark' time programs to optimise the viewing conditions for different target types [7, 62, 63].

Post-observation, the DESI spectroscopic pipeline processes the data to ensure quality before it is released as part of DR1 [64]. This dataset includes the first homogeneous processing run (denoted as 'iron'), which is used to produce the redshift catalogues that underpin the analyses presented in this paper [58, 65].

**Blinded catalogues** To mitigate confirmation bias in our analysis, the DR1 dataset underwent a blinding process. This involved shifting galaxy positions to obscure the true cosmological parameters until the validation of the analysis pipeline was complete. Specifically, galaxy positions were adjusted through two types of shifts [66]: an Alcock-Paczynski-like shift along the line-of-sight and an RSD-like shift derived from the peculiar velocity of galaxies. In addition, the effects of primordial non-Gaussianities were mimicked by adding weights to the data [67]. These techniques were carefully calibrated to ensure they did not interfere with the integrity of the cosmological analysis, following the methodologies outlined in [43].

Initially, the blinded data was used to test and refine our analysis pipeline. Once the BAO pipeline was finalised and frozen, the unblinded catalogues without any positional shifts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Note that these mocks do not include redshift evolution, since each of them was produced from a single box with a given redshift. However, for our present purposes, the effect should be negligible for measuring the geometrical distortions.

were released for final analysis. For the details of the BAO unblinding tests, we refer the readers to Section 6 in [13].

For an in-depth description of the DR1 catalogue, including detailed discussions on the blinding methodology and other procedural details, we refer the reader to the main paper [15]. That document provides comprehensive insights into the dataset's creation, processing, and the strategic decisions made during its collection and analysis.

## 4 Methods

We follow the standard BAO pipeline in accordance with the fiducial settings adopted by the DESI Collaboration [13], except where otherwise explicitly stated. We report our estimate for the systematic error due to the choice of fiducial cosmology based on the results obtained with Abacus-2 DR1 mock catalogues with 'fast-fiberassign'.

Let us note that studies devoted to investigating the effects of the assumption of a fiducial cosmology can follow one of two approaches (sometimes combined). The main idea consists of testing a distribution of different fiducial and true underlying cosmologies in order to identify any systematic differences in the measured  $\alpha$  values with respect to the expected rescalings. The first approach consists in performing tests with a set of mocks produced from a single underlying *true* cosmology by varying the *grid*, *template* and/or *reconstruction* cosmologies. The second approach consists in testing a set of mocks produced from different underlying *true* cosmologies and analysing them with a fixed-fiducial-cosmology pipeline. For this work we follow the first approach, by testing the effect of consistently changing the reference cosmology throughout the whole pipeline and running BAO fits on the 25 realisations of the Abacus-2 DR1 mocks. The *true* cosmology is fixed to the baseline cosmology, and we vary the cosmology used for the redshift-to-distance conversion, reconstruction and template, using the secondary ABACUSSUMMIT cosmologies, as described in the subsections below. Additionally, we investigate the effect of varying the template and grid cosmologies separately.

Furthermore, we conduct a similar analysis on DR1 blinded and unblinded data with different fiducial cosmologies, and we compare these results with those obtained from mocks.

#### 4.1 Two-point clustering statistics

The tests are performed in both Fourier and configuration space. For the power spectrum computation, we make use of  $pypower^6$  following the estimator from [68]. We calculate the power spectrum multipoles with a binning of  $\Delta k = 1 \times 10^{-3} h \text{ Mpc}^{-1}$ , a cell size of  $4 h^{-1} \text{ Mpc}$ , a third order interlacing and a Triangular Shape Cloud (TSC) scheme. Likewise, the survey window is accounted for in the form of a window matrix and computed with pypower following the prescription by [69]. We calculate a window matrix for each grid cosmology. For the correlation function computation, we make use of  $pycorr^7$ . The correlation function multipoles are calculated using the Landy Szalay estimator [70] with s binning set to intervals of  $1 h^{-1}$  Mpc, ranging from 0 to  $200 h^{-1}$  Mpc, and 240 intervals for  $\mu$ , with values spanning from -1 to 1. For the 2PCF computation the randoms were split across 4 GPUs on NERSC Perlmutter GPU nodes for computational time speedup [71]. Both clustering statistics are rebinned to larger bin sizes before BAO fitting (Sec. 4.4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://github.com/cosmodesi/pypower

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>https://github.com/cosmodesi/pycorr

In both cases, Fourier and configuration, the clustering measurements were performed separately for the South Galactic Cap (SGC) and North Galactic Cap (NGC) regions and subsequently combined by taking the weighted average. The details regarding the regions, window functions, random catalogues and weighting schemes can be found in [65].

We make use of the same redshift bins as in Table 2 of [13], namely: 0.1-0.4 for BGS, 0.4-0.6, 0.6-0.8, 0.8-1.1 for LRG; 0.8-1.1, 1.1-1.6 for ELG and 0.8-2.1 for QSO.<sup>8</sup>

#### 4.2 Covariance matrices

We make use of post-reconstruction analytic covariance matrices in Fourier and configuration space for mocks with survey realism as well as DR1 data.

Analytic covariance matrices of the BAO-reconstructed power spectrum multipoles were calculated using the code thecov<sup>9</sup>, an implementation of the method developed in [72] that was studied and validated in the context of the DESI analysis in [38]. Since BAO reconstruction is known to reduce non-Gaussianity in the density field [38, 73], only the Gaussian term of the covariance was considered. The input power spectrum used in the Gaussian covariance calculation was the average from the 25 mock realisations. For tests involving Abacus-2 DR1 mocks, the effects of mode coupling induced by the survey geometry were modelled using the method described in [72]. We compute a covariance matrix for each grid cosmology.

For configuration space, we make use of analytical covariance matrices computed with  $RascalC^{10}$  [74]. The method was validated in [10] for the DESI EDR and the details are described in [37] in the context of DR1. In this case, we make use of a fixed covariance matrix computed for the **baseline** cosmology as the grid cosmology. We rescale the covariance matrix by  $q_{iso}^3$  for the fits with the rest of the cosmologies.

### 4.3 Reconstruction with different cosmologies

In this subsection, we present the details of the DESI reconstruction setup. The mock catalogues were processed with the iterative FFT reconstruction algorithm [75] implemented in pyrecon<sup>11</sup>. We follow the prescriptions determined in [33, 34] as follows. For the Abacus-2 mocks and DR1 data, reconstruction was run on the complete catalogue, and not separately for each redshift bin. The number of iterations was set to 3, a cellsize of 4  $h^{-1}$ Mpc was used, while the smoothing scale for each tracer was: 15  $h^{-1}$ Mpc for BGS, LRG and ELG; and 30  $h^{-1}$ Mpc for QSO. For all the tests, we calculate f(z) with cosmoprimo<sup>12</sup> using CLASS as the engine, whereas  $b_1(z)$  is estimated from pre-reconstruction BAO fits, by taking the average of the best-fit value over the number of mocks. Table 2 shows the values adopted for the different cosmologies<sup>13</sup>.

Figure 4 shows the mean of the post-reconstruction power spectrum measurements for the 25 Abacus-2 DR1 mocks. The LRG 0.8 < z < 1.1 redshift bin is shown as an example. The reconstruction cosmology matches the grid cosmology. The most significant difference with respect to the baseline cosmology corresponds to the thawing-DE cosmology, for which the effect of the grid is largest (see Fig. 1). The change in comoving volume affects the power

 $<sup>^{8}</sup>$ For this work, we do not combine the highest LRG and lowest ELG redshift bins as it is done in [13].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>https://github.com/cosmodesi/thecov

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>https://github.com/oliverphilcox/RascalC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>https://github.com/cosmodesi/pyrecon

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>https://github.com/cosmodesi/cosmoprimo

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The values for the baseline cosmology differ from those used in the official BAO analysis for DESI DR1 [13]. We opted to use our own estimates for  $b_1$  for consistency with the rest of the cosmologies.

tracer		baseline	low- $\Omega_m$	thawing-DE	high- $N_{ m eff}$	low- $\sigma_8$
BGS	$b_1(z)$	1.81	1.75	1.80	1.77	1.96
0.1 < z < 0.4	f(z)	0.681	0.645	0.684	0.665	0.681
LRG	$b_1(z)$	2.10	2.05	2.02	2.04	2.27
0.4 < z < 1.1	f(z)	0.834	0.809	0.821	0.823	0.834
ELG	$b_1(z)$	1.22	1.20	1.17	1.20	1.33
0.8 < z < 1.6	f(z)	0.900	0.883	0.888	0.893	0.900
QSO	$b_1(z)$	2.69	2.63	2.56	2.64	2.91
0.8 < z < 2.1	f(z)	0.948	0.939	0.942	0.944	0.948

**Table 2.** Linear bias  $b_1(z)$  and growth rate f(z) values used for reconstruction with the cosmologies tested. The reconstruction was performed on the complete samples (i.e., not separated in redshift bins, as was done for the fitting) in accordance with [13, 34].

spectrum amplitude and the modes measured in observable space, since the modes are fixed in the comoving (grid) space; whereas the change in shape in the quadrupole is related to the AP effect.

#### 4.4 BAO fitting

We run BAO fits following the state-of-the-art model, as implemented in desilike<sup>14</sup> both in Fourier and configuration space. Our BAO model follows equation 2.7, with the explicit choices

$$\mathcal{B}(k,\mu) = \frac{\left(b_1 + f\mu^2\right)^2}{\left(1 + \frac{1}{2}k^2\mu^2\Sigma_s^2\right)^2},\tag{4.1}$$

$$C(k,\mu) = (b_1 + f\mu^2)^2 \exp\left[-\frac{k^2\mu^2\Sigma_{\parallel} + k^2(1-\mu^2)\Sigma_{\perp}}{2}\right],$$
(4.2)

where  $(b_1 + f\mu^2)^2$  is the linear Kaiser factor,  $\mathcal{B}$  includes the FoG effect at small scales, determined by the streaming scale  $\Sigma_s$ ; and  $\mathcal{C}$  includes the non-linear damping of the BAO, described by the damping factors  $\Sigma_{\parallel}$  and  $\Sigma_{\perp}$ , parallel and perpendicular to the line of sight.

The power spectrum multipoles are formally given by  $^{15}$ 

$$P_{\ell}(k) = \frac{2\ell + 1}{2} \int_{-1}^{1} d\mu \mathcal{L}_{\ell}(\mu) \left[ \mathcal{B}(k,\mu) P_{\rm nw}(k) + \mathcal{C}(k,\mu) P_{\rm w} \left( k'(k,\mu;\alpha_{\rm iso},\alpha_{\rm AP}) \right) \right] + \mathcal{D}_{\ell}(k), \quad (4.3)$$

where  $\mathcal{D}_{\ell}(k)$  accounts for the broad-band corrections due to non-linearities and additional systematics. Traditionally, this term has been chosen to be a series of polynomials, for which the degree and number are usually empirically calibrated. The new implementation adopted in the DESI collaboration is introduced in [32]; it consists of using a series of picewise cubic spline (PCS) kernels with a spatial separation of (at least)  $2\pi/r_d$ , in order to ensure that the broad-band addition is unable to reproduce the oscillatory features in the power spectrum. The number of terms for  $\mathcal{D}_{\ell}$  depends on the fitting range.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>https://github.com/cosmodesi/desilike

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>This matches Eq. 4.4 in [13] except for a small difference: the factor  $C(k, \mu)$  is not affected by the change of coordinates. As discussed in the same reference, the dilation is degenerate with the free parameters within C, which means that the choice does not play a significant role. Most of the tests in this work had been done before the model was updated to include  $C(k', \mu')$  for the final pipeline in [13].



Figure 4. Mean post-reconstruction power spectrum multipoles for the LRG 0.8 < z < 1.1 redshift bin of the 25 realisations of the Abacus-2 DR1 mocks. The first and third panels show the monopole and quadrupole calculated with the different grid cosmologies, respectively. The second and fourth panels show the differences with respect to the baseline measurements, relative to the square root of the diagonal of the covariance matrix  $C_{\ell,\ell'}$  calculated for the baseline cosmology. The cosmology assumed for reconstruction matches the grid cosmology. The largest effect occurs for the thawing-DE cosmology.

The multipoles in configuration space are obtained by simply Hankel transforming the multipoles in Fourier space. The broadband correction in this case consists of a combination of even polynomial terms and the non-vanishing Hankel transforms of the PCS kernels (see [13, 32] for details).

We assume a Gaussian likelihood

$$\mathcal{L} \propto \exp(-\chi^2/2),$$
(4.4)

with

$$\chi^2 = (\mathbf{D} - W\mathbf{M})^T C^{-1} \left(\mathbf{D} - W\mathbf{M}\right), \qquad (4.5)$$

where **D** is the data vector, **M** is the model vector, C is the covariance matrix and W the survey window matrix in the case of Fourier Space fits, whereas in configuration space W is a 'binning' matrix.

In Fourier space, we use a fitting range of 0.02  $h \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1} < k < 0.3 h \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$  with  $\Delta k = 0.005 h \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$ ; while in configuration space we have 48  $h^{-1} \,\mathrm{Mpc} < s < 152 h^{-1} \,\mathrm{Mpc}$  with  $\Delta s = 4 h^{-1} \,\mathrm{Mpc}$ . Fits are performed in the  $\alpha_{\rm iso}, \alpha_{\rm AP}$  basis. Either anisotropic (monopole + quadrupole) or isotropic (monopole) fits are run depending on the redshift bin, in accordance to [13]. Our choices for the priors correspond to those shown in Tables 5 and 6 in the same reference.

For our test with mocks, we are mainly interested in the best fit values, which we obtain by making use of the desilike wrapper of the Minuit profiler [76]. For data, we additionally sample the posterior with the MCMC ensemble sampler emcee [77].

#### 4.5 Parameterising the difference in the BAO scales

Even with varied grid and template cosmologies for BAO analysis in fiducial comoving space, we anticipate consistent BAO scales in observable space, unless a particular choice of the fiducial cosmology introduces a bias on the inferred BAO scale. In this section, we describe how we quantify any net differences (i.e., bias) in the measured dilation parameters after accounting for the expected effect of the fiducial cosmologies. We first rescale the values measured with a given cosmology in terms of the baseline cosmology distance ratios as

$$\alpha^{\text{measured}} \to \frac{\alpha^{\text{measured}}}{\alpha^{\text{rescaling}}}$$
(4.6)

with

$$\alpha_{\parallel,\perp,\rm iso}^{\rm rescaling} = \frac{D^{\rm baseline}}{D^{\rm grid}} \frac{r_d^{\rm tem}}{r_d^{\rm baseline}}, \qquad \alpha_{\rm AP}^{\rm rescaling} = \frac{D_{\rm M}^{\rm baseline}/D_{\rm H}^{\rm baseline}}{D_{\rm M}^{\rm grid}/D_{H}^{\rm grid}}, \tag{4.7}$$

and where D is to be taken as  $D_{\rm M}$ ,  $D_{\rm H}$  or  $D_{\rm V}$  for considering  $\alpha_{\perp}$ ,  $\alpha_{||}$  or  $\alpha_{\rm iso}$  respectively. The quantities  $\alpha^{\rm rescaling}$  would be equal to the expected  $\alpha$  values if the baseline cosmology is assumed as the true cosmology. Thus, in order to reduce sample variance, we focus on the difference

$$\Delta \alpha = \frac{\alpha^{\text{measured}}}{\alpha^{\text{rescaling}}} - \alpha^{\text{measured}}_{\text{baseline}}.$$
(4.8)

The differences are expected to be zero in an ideal scenario where no systematic errors were introduced. Notice that this definition is independent of the underlying *true* cosmology (as opposed to measuring the differences with respect to expected value) and thus can be equally applied to mocks and data. For the tests with mock catalogues, we calculate the mean and the standard deviations of these differences, using the sample variance cancellation.

#### 5 Results

In this section we present three sets of results. First, our main results, derived from the Abacus-2 DR1 mocks, are reported in Sec. 5.1. These served to establish our estimate of the contribution to the systematic error budget for the DESI BAO analysis [13]. Secondly, Sec. 5.2 includes the tests that were performed with blinded and unblinded DR1 data. In Sec. 5.3 we investigate the separate contributions of the grid and template cosmologies.

#### 5.1 Testing fiducial cosmology systematics with Abacus-2 DR1 mocks

Table 3 summarises our results making use of the Abacus-2 mocks with 'fast-fiberassign', both in Fourier and configuration space. We present the average values for the quantities  $\Delta \alpha_{\rm iso}$  and  $\Delta \alpha_{\rm AP}$ , and quantify the error as the standard deviation of the mean. We decided to consider bias detected if a net non-zero difference is measured with a significance greater than  $3\sigma$ , in accordance with the rest of the systematic-error studies for the DESI BAO DR1 analysis (see Section 5 in [13]). As anticipated, the results are generally dependent on redshift, reflecting the z-dependent influence of the grid cosmology when it deviates from the true cosmology (see Fig. 1). The values for the biases range from hundredths of a percent to a few tenths of a percent for both parameters. Figure 5 demonstrates that the best-fit BAO scales are highly correlated between the two statistics in all cases (top and the third rows), using LRG 0.6 < z < 0.8 as an example. The second and the fourth rows show that, once differences between different pairs of cosmologies are made, the sample variance is largely cancelled, and the residual differences are uncorrelated between the Fourier space and the configuration space, which is what one would expect if there is no systematic bias in the residuals.

In detail, we find a systematic shift in  $\alpha_{\rm iso}$  for the high- $N_{\rm eff}$  cosmology, of about 0.1 – 0.2% in Fourier space (up to 0.3% in configuration Space<sup>16</sup>) across the different redshift bins (Table 3). We argue that this shift can be explained given that for this cosmology, for which  $N_{\rm eff} = 3.70$  is notably high, the sound horizon scale and the actual BAO locations scale differently with respect to the rest of the cosmologies due to the incorrect assumption of  $N_{\rm eff}$  in the template. This deviation stems from the scale-dependent phase shift in the BAO feature, as determined by  $N_{\rm eff}$ ; a more detailed explanation is offered in Appendix B. Note that the shift is detected above the level imposed above in several cases (e.g. LRG 0.8 < z < 1.1). For this particular case, we opt not to consider this as part of the systematic error budget, as the  $r_d$  rescaling is a matter of interpretation rather than a matter of the observed BAO locations.

In addition, it is observed that the thawing-DE cosmology yields the largest dispersion of the differences for  $\alpha_{AP}$  across all redshift bins. It is important to note that this cosmology introduces a deviation in the redshift-to-distance relation as large as 7-9% (Figure 1). There is also a detection of a 0.1% shift in  $\alpha_{iso}$  in the case of LRGs for 0.8 < z < 1.1 in Fourier space. This result sets 0.1% as our bound for the estimated systematic error budget due to the fiducial cosmology, as reported in Table 11 of [13].

Given that the  $low-\sigma_8$  cosmology is identical to the **baseline** cosmology, except for the power spectrum amplitude, we attribute any discrepancies to the wrong choice of  $b_1$ when performing reconstruction. This is because even though the amplitude of the template changes, this is, in principle, absorbed by the linear bias parameter itself when running the fit. From Table 2, the differences in  $b_1$  between the  $low-\sigma_8$  and  $low-\Omega_m$  cosmologies are

 $<sup>^{16}\</sup>mathrm{We}$  corroborated that the larger shift in configuration space is caused by outliers.



Figure 5. Comparison of the measured  $\alpha$  values in configuration space (CS) and Fourier space (FS) by analysing the 25 Abacus-2 mocks with the different cosmologies. All values are rescaled according to Eq. 4.6 (i.e., the expected value is  $\alpha_{iso,AP} = 1$  for the mocks, and  $\Delta \alpha_{iso,AP} = 0$  for mocks and data.). Results for the central LRG redshift bin are shown as an example. The orange star indicates the measurements for DR1 data. The values in CS and FS are well correlated for  $\alpha_{iso}$  and  $\alpha_{AP}$ , but not necessarily for  $\Delta \alpha_{iso}$ ,  $\Delta \alpha_{AP}$ .

around 7–9%. As expected, the dispersion in  $\Delta \alpha_{iso,AP}$  is generally lower than in the other cases.

For the  $low-\Omega_m$  cosmology, there is no clear detection of a shift, nor a coherent trend in the  $\Delta \alpha_{iso,AP}$  values. This is particularly relevant, since the change of  $\Omega_m$  (larger than 12% for this cosmology) has a significant impact on both  $r_d$  and the redshift-to-distance relation that does not 'cancel out', as opposed to the other cases (see the  $\alpha_{iso}$  panel in Figure 3).

In section 5.3, we explore the separate contributions from the grid and the template.

#### 5.2 Analysing DR1 data with different cosmologies

Figure 6 shows the comparison of the measured  $\alpha$  values for the different cosmologies making use of the power spectra obtained from DR1 blinded data. For this test, we followed the same settings as described above, changing the reference cosmology across the whole pipeline. The  $\alpha$  values shown are normalised in such a way that the measured values for the **baseline** cosmology are equal to 1, as the blinding technique artificially introduces shifts to the measured distances and hence, we are not concerned with the magnitude of the values, but only with the consistency observed when changing settings. This test formed part of a number of 'unblinding' tests to which DR1 data was subjected (see [13] for details) in order to avoid confirmation bias while converging on the final settings for the analysis of the unblinded data. The measurements are in agreement with each other within the expected error. The largest deviations occur for the LRG (0.6 < z < 0.8) with the **thawing-DE** cosmology, for which there is a discrepancy of 0.3 (0.2) times the statistical error for  $\alpha_{iso}$  ( $\alpha_{AP}$ ).

Finally, we proceeded to process the unblinded data in a similar way. The results are displayed in Figure 7 for Fourier space and Figure 8 for configuration space. We do not show the measured values explicitly for each cosmology; instead we show the differences of the rescaled  $\alpha$  values and where they lie within the distribution from the mocks. It can be observed that the differences are in good agreement with the histograms of the 25 Abacus-2 DR1 mocks, except for QSO with the thawing-DE (high- $N_{\text{eff}}$ ) cosmology in Fourier (configuration) space. We measure a difference of about 1% in both cases, although in different directions (the deviation cannot be considered significant compared to the expected mock distribution in configuration space). We note, however, that this corresponds to less than half the statistical error for this redshift bin (see Table 15 in [13]). Being a single realisation it is possible that this represents an outlier. An example of how the posterior distribution is stable against the change of fiducial cosmology is provided in Figure 9, which corresponds to the contour plots for the  $\alpha$  values for ELG with 1.1 < z < 1.6.

#### 5.3 Grid vs. Template cosmology

We now isolate the effect of the change of grid and template by re-analysing the Abacus-2 mocks in the following way:

- Varying the grid cosmology and fixing the template to the **baseline** cosmology.
- Fixing the grid cosmology to the **baseline** cosmology and varying the template cosmology.

The test is performed on the post-reconstruction catalogues, where the reconstruction settings match the grid cosmology. We use the same definition for the deltas as in Equation 4.8, where for these particular cases the conversion factor (Eq. 4.7) simplifies such that

Γ		cosmology		$\langle \Delta \alpha_{\rm iso} \rangle [\%]$	$\langle \Delta \alpha_{AP} \rangle [\%]$	$\langle \sigma_{\alpha}^{\text{stat}} \rangle [\%]$	$\langle \sigma_{\alpha,\tau}^{\text{stat}} \rangle [\%]$
$\vdash$	BGS	$10W-\Omega_m$	FS	$-0.05 \pm 0.08$	(	$1.95 \pm 0.15$	(* a <sub>A</sub> p/ [, c]
	0.1 < z < 0.4		CS	$-0.07 \pm 0.07$		$1.90 \pm 0.09$	
		thawing-DE	FS	$-0.02 \pm 0.10$		$1.99 \pm 0.14$	
			CS	$-0.12 \pm 0.10$		$1.79 \pm 0.09$	
		high- $N_{\rm off}$	FS	$0.11 \pm 0.05$		$1.93 \pm 0.15$	
			CS	$0.11 \pm 0.03$ $0.14 \pm 0.04$		$1.00 \pm 0.10$ $1.90 \pm 0.08$	
		$low - \sigma_{\circ}$	FS	$0.02 \pm 0.03$		$1.91 \pm 0.13$	
		0	CS	$-0.02 \pm 0.05$		$1.86 \pm 0.08$	
$\vdash$	LRG	low-Ω_	FS	$-0.02 \pm 0.04$	$-0.15 \pm 0.16$	$1.19 \pm 0.05$	$3.99 \pm 0.17$
	0.4 < z < 0.6	2011 2277	CS	$0.02 \pm 0.06$	$-0.10 \pm 0.10$	$1.10 \pm 0.00$ $1.24 \pm 0.05$	$4 34 \pm 0.19$
	0.1 ( 2 ( 0.0	thawing-DE	FS	$0.06 \pm 0.04$	$-0.02 \pm 0.18$	$1.21 \pm 0.06$	$4.11 \pm 0.21$
			CS	$-0.02 \pm 0.04$	$0.11 \pm 0.20$	$1.14 \pm 0.05$	$3.97 \pm 0.18$
		high- $N_{\rm eff}$	FS	$0.11 \pm 0.03$	$-0.07 \pm 0.09$	$1.19 \pm 0.05$	$4.00 \pm 0.18$
		0 0	CS	$0.21 \pm 0.04$	$0.12 \pm 0.15$	$1.24 \pm 0.05$	$4.34 \pm 0.21$
		$low - \sigma_8$	FS	$0.02 \pm 0.01$	$0.00 \pm 0.06$	$1.18 \pm 0.05$	$3.97 \pm 0.18$
			CS	$0.07 \pm 0.04$	$-0.10 \pm 0.09$	$1.19 \pm 0.05$	$4.13 \pm 0.17$
F	LRG	$low-\Omega_m$	FS	$-0.09 \pm 0.05$	$0.23 \pm 0.12$	$1.00 \pm 0.03$	$3.31 \pm 0.12$
	0.6 < z < 0.8		CS	$-0.01 \pm 0.04$	$0.07 \pm 0.13$	$0.99 \pm 0.02$	$3.47 \pm 0.11$
		thawing-DE	FS	$0.00 \pm 0.04$	$-0.20 \pm 0.11$	$0.98 \pm 0.03$	$3.31 \pm 0.12$
			CS	$-0.01 \pm 0.03$	$0.19 \pm 0.14$	$0.90 \pm 0.02$	$3.14 \pm 0.10$
		high- $N_{\rm eff}$	FS	$0.07\pm0.03$	$0.07\pm0.07$	$0.97 \pm 0.03$	$3.22 \pm 0.11$
		0	CS	$0.17\pm0.03$	$0.13 \pm 0.13$	$0.98 \pm 0.02$	$3.42 \pm 0.11$
		low- $\sigma_8$	FS	$0.03 \pm 0.01$	$0.04 \pm 0.04$	$0.96 \pm 0.03$	$3.23 \pm 0.12$
		, in the second se	CS	$0.02 \pm 0.02$	$0.05\pm0.06$	$0.96 \pm 0.02$	$3.36 \pm 0.11$
	LRG	low- $\Omega_m$	FS	$0.01 \pm 0.01$	$0.04 \pm 0.06$	$0.84 \pm 0.02$	$2.75 \pm 0.06$
	0.8 < z < 1.1		CS	$-0.01 \pm 0.03$	$0.16 \pm 0.13$	$0.87 \pm 0.02$	$2.99 \pm 0.07$
		thawing-DE	FS	$-0.10 \pm 0.03$	$-0.04 \pm 0.09$	$0.84 \pm 0.02$	$2.79 \pm 0.07$
			CS	$-0.01\pm0.04$	$0.18\pm0.13$	$0.81 \pm 0.02$	$2.77 \pm 0.08$
		high- $N_{ m eff}$	FS	$0.12\pm0.01$	$0.05\pm0.03$	$0.84 \pm 0.02$	$2.90 \pm 0.15$
		_	CS	$0.16\pm0.03$	$0.10\pm0.13$	$0.87\pm0.02$	$2.96 \pm 0.07$
		low- $\sigma_8$	FS	$0.02\pm0.01$	$-0.05\pm0.04$	$0.84 \pm 0.02$	$2.76 \pm 0.07$
			CS	$-0.01\pm0.02$	$-0.04\pm0.06$	$0.85\pm0.02$	$2.90\pm0.07$
	ELG	low- $\Omega_m$	FS	$-0.09 \pm 0.04$		$1.60\pm0.10$	
	0.8 < z < 1.1		CS	$-0.16\pm0.06$		$1.73\pm0.06$	
		thawing-DE	$\mathbf{FS}$	$0.11\pm0.05$		$1.65\pm0.11$	
			CS	$0.12\pm0.09$		$1.69\pm0.06$	
		high- $N_{ m eff}$	FS	$0.08\pm0.03$		$1.60 \pm 0.10$	
			CS	$0.10 \pm 0.05$		$1.74 \pm 0.06$	
		low- $\sigma_8$	FS	$-0.05\pm0.02$		$1.59\pm0.10$	
			CS	$-0.10 \pm 0.05$		$1.69 \pm 0.06$	
	ELG	low- $\Omega_m$	FS	$-0.05 \pm 0.03$	$0.00 \pm 0.10$	$1.40 \pm 0.05$	$4.33 \pm 0.11$
	1.1 < z < 1.6		CS	$-0.16 \pm 0.07$	$-0.03 \pm 0.28$	$1.50 \pm 0.04$	$4.88 \pm 0.11$
		thawing-DE	FS	$0.00 \pm 0.03$	$0.10 \pm 0.16$	$1.42 \pm 0.06$	$4.40 \pm 0.13$
			CS	$-0.04 \pm 0.06$	$0.19 \pm 0.27$	$1.44 \pm 0.05$	$4.69 \pm 0.11$
		high- $N_{ m eff}$	FS	$0.06 \pm 0.03$	$0.03 \pm 0.10$	$1.41 \pm 0.06$	$4.34 \pm 0.11$
		_		$0.23 \pm 0.06$	$-0.40 \pm 0.26$	$1.50 \pm 0.05$	$4.84 \pm 0.11$
		$10w-\sigma_8$	FS	$0.00 \pm 0.02$	$-0.02 \pm 0.08$	$1.39 \pm 0.06$	$4.28 \pm 0.13$
	080			$-0.08 \pm 0.04$	$0.07 \pm 0.17$	$1.45 \pm 0.05$	$4.70 \pm 0.12$
	Q5U	LOW-12m	FS CC	$0.11 \pm 0.08$		$1.04 \pm 0.09$	
	0.0 < z < 2.1	there are		$0.22 \pm 0.13$		$1.00 \pm 0.08$	
		thawing-DE	LD CC	$-0.01 \pm 0.05$		$1.00 \pm 0.08$	
		high = M	LO EG	$0.04 \pm 0.13$ 0.13 $\pm 0.06$		$1.07 \pm 0.00$	
		IIIgn-Iveff	1 D CS	$0.13 \pm 0.00$ $0.28 \pm 0.00$		$1.02 \pm 0.08$ 1.04 ± 0.20	
		108-00	FS	$-0.01 \pm 0.09$		$1.54 \pm 0.29$ 1.62 ± 0.09	
		<b>10</b> 08	CS	$-0.03 \pm 0.01$		$1.61 \pm 0.08$	
		1		0.00 - 0.01	1		1

Table 3. Impact of the fiducial cosmology observed from the 25 Abacus-2 DR1 mocks. The mean of the differences (Eq. 4.8) is reported for the different cosmologies in Fourier space (FS) and configuration space (CS). For comparison, the last two columns show the mean of the statistical error obtained with Minuit.



**Figure 6.** Comparison of the  $\alpha$  values measured for DR1 blinded data with the different cosmologies in Fourier space. The results are adjusted such that the expectation value is  $\alpha_{iso,AP} = 1$  in order to avoid confusion since the blinding technique shifts the AP distortions. The shaded regions indicate the statistical error obtained from the fit with the **baseline** cosmology.

 $D^{\text{baseline}}/D^{\text{grid}} \to 1$  when the grid is fixed, while  $r_d^{\text{baseline}}/r_d^{\text{tem}} \to 1$  when the template is fixed. For this part of the study, we focus on fits in Fourier space.

Figure 10 shows a box-plot comparison of the three cases: varying independently the grid or the template cosmology, or varying them simultaneously (our baseline analysis). A number of trends can be observed. First, we confirm, as argued above, that the systematic bias for  $\alpha_{\rm iso}$  measured for the high- $N_{\rm eff}$  cosmology is due to the template<sup>17</sup>. Conversely, regarding the large dispersion for the thawing-DE cosmology in the case of the anisotropic dilation, the figure suggests that this is mainly driven by the stochasticity introduced by the change of grid cosmology. The effect can be seen not only in  $\alpha_{\rm AP}$  but also in  $\alpha_{\rm iso}$ . This is related to the fact that the isotropic dilation affects this case the most; the change in comoving volume is of the order of 20% for all redshift bins. Lastly, the  $1 \text{ow}-\sigma_8$  cosmology allows us to isolate the effect of the wrong  $b_1$ . We corroborate that changing the template

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>In addition, the change of grid can introduce some dispersion (but no bias) for the high- $N_{\text{eff}}$  cosmology (e.g., pink boxes in Figure 10 for ELG and QSO). However, the effect is less pronounced than what is observed for the low- $\Omega_m$  cosmology. This is expected (see Figure 1). The change in  $\Omega_m$  with respect to the baseline cosmology is 5% for the high- $N_{\text{eff}}$  cosmology as opposed to 12% for the low- $\Omega_m$  cosmology.



Figure 7. Histograms of the differences  $\Delta \alpha_{\rm iso,AP}$  measured for the different cosmologies for the 25 Abacus-2 mock realisations from the analysis in Fourier space. The solid red line corresponds to DR1 unblinded data. Top:  $\alpha_{\rm iso}$ . Bottom:  $\alpha_{\rm AP}$ 

amplitude has a minimal effect on the fits (blue boxes for this cosmology are barely visible in the plot), while assuming the wrong linear bias (pink boxes) produces some non-negligible dispersion in some cases. For instance, for the second ELG redshift bin, there are differences for  $\alpha_{\rm AP}$  of up to 0.8% (significantly smaller than the statistical error of 4.6% reported in Table 15 of [13] for this redshift bin).

#### 6 Summary and Conclusions

In this work we have assessed the systematic error budget associated with the choice of fiducial cosmology in the context of the BAO analysis for DESI DR1. We do this by making use of a set of 25 mock catalogues with survey realism corresponding to the DESI tracers: BGS, LRG, ELG and QSO. DESI's fiducial cosmology, Planck 2018 (or c000 in the ABACUS-SUMMIT nomenclature) is used as our **baseline** cosmology and the rest of the cosmologies under consideration are the ABACUSSUMMIT secondary cosmologies: c001 ( $low-\Omega_m$ ), c002 (thawing-DE model), c003 (high- $N_{\text{eff}}$ ) and c004 ( $low-\sigma_8$ ). The baseline test consisted in analysing each mock 5 times, by changing the grid, template and reconstruction cosmology



Figure 8. Analogous to Figure 7 but for configuration space.

in a consistent way. We report our estimate for a systematic shift as the average of the quantity  $\Delta \alpha_{\rm iso,AP}$  with an associated error equal to the standard deviation of the mean. We consider a  $3\sigma$  detection significance in order to report a shift as significant. Under these criteria, we find a systematic shift of  $\sim 0.2\%$  for the high-N<sub>eff</sub> cosmology across all redshift bins. However, we note that this case is particular and we are able to ascribe the bias to the template. More precisely, it is a well-known fact that the BAO in the matter power spectrum undergo a scale-dependent phase shift determined by the cosmological parameters. In extreme cases, such as high  $N_{\rm eff}$ , the standard interpretation of the dilation parameters, namely the rescaling by  $r_d^{\text{tem}}/r_d$ , fails due to the cosmology dependence of the phase shift. However, such extreme scenarios are mostly ruled out by constraints from the CMB, for instance  $N_{\rm eff} = 3.70$  is three sigma off from the value reported by Planck. For this reason, even though it serves as a sanity check to consider such cases, we opt not to regard this particular shift as part of the systematic error budget. In addition, we find a single detection of a systematic shift of 0.1% for the central LRG redshift bin for the thaving-DE cosmology. Our final recommended fiducial-cosmology-dependent contribution to the error budget for the DESI DR1 BAO measurements is 0.1% for both  $\alpha_{\rm iso}$  and  $\alpha_{\rm AP}$ . This conservative number was determined, apart from our single detection, by taking into account the order of magnitude of the dispersion for  $\Delta \alpha_{\rm iso,AP}$  (see Fig. 7 and Fig. 8). Our results are included



Figure 9. Contour plots showing the  $1\sigma$  and  $2\sigma$  regions of the sampled posterior distribution by fitting the Fourier space multipoles of the clustering of DESI DR1 data for the second ELG redshift bin. The delta values are calculated for each cosmology following Equation 4.8 (recall that this definition does not depend on the true cosmology).

in Section 5 of [13], and the estimated systematic error was added in quadrature, along with the other contributions, to the statistical error.

Moreover, the separate contributions of the template and the grid cosmologies were studied in this work. Our results imply that the change of grid is generally associated with an increase in the dispersion in our measurements of the compression parameters  $\alpha_{iso,AP}$ (e.g., the **thawing-DE** cosmology)<sup>18</sup>. Likewise, the effect of the wrong template enters mostly in the interpretation of the rescaling by the sound horizon ratio, however, some dispersion is also expected. The exact magnitude of these effects may depend on the specifics of the cosmology under consideration, hence, given the limited number of cosmological scenarios tested, we do not observe obvious trends (see for example [20], where they report a slight

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>The observed dispersion in the distributions of the differences  $\Delta \alpha_{\rm iso,AP}$ , which are otherwise generally unbiased within 0.1%, is consistent with the discussion in Section 8 of [13]. Namely, analysing the same dataset with different grid cosmologies can be regarded as comparing two different unbiased estimators of the truth.



Figure 10. Box-plots for the distributions of the differences of the  $\alpha$  values (rescaled to the **baseline** cosmology units) for the three sets of settings: varying the template and grid cosmologies accordingly (white), varying the grid cosmology with the template cosmology fixed to **baseline** (pink) and varying the template cosmology with the grid cosmology fixed to **baseline** (blue). The box extends from the first to the third quartile, whereas the whiskers are drawn up to 1.5 times the interquartile range (IQR); outliers are not plotted.

dependency on h and  $\Omega_m$ ). Conversely, we emphasise that at the precision level for the DESI DR1, even when cosmological parameters ruled out by CMB measurements are considered, which is the case for the ABACUSSUMMIT secondary cosmologies, our BAO measurements exhibit a remarkable robustness (see Figure 9).

#### 7 Data Availability

The data will be publicly available once the paper is accepted for publication.

#### Acknowledgments

AP, MV are supported by PAPIIT IN108321, IN116024, and IN115424. RR acknowledges financial support from the Australian Research Council through DECRA Fellowship DE240100816. MV is supported by Proyecto PIFF and Proyecto Investigación in Ciencia Básica CONAHCYT grant No. A1-S-13051. This material is based upon work supported by the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE), Office of Science, Office of High-Energy Physics, under Contract No. DE-AC02-05CH11231, and by the National Energy Research Scientific Computing Center, a DOE Office of Science User Facility under the same contract. Additional support for DESI was provided by the U.S. National Science Foundation (NSF), Division of Astronomical Sciences under Contract No. AST-0950945 to the NSF's National Optical-Infrared Astronomy Research Laboratory; the Science and Technology Facilities Council of the United Kingdom; the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation; the Heising-Simons Foundation; the French Alternative Energies and Atomic Energy Commission (CEA); the National Council of Humanities, Science and Technology of Mexico (CONAHCYT); the Ministry of Science and Innovation of Spain (MICINN), and by the DESI Member Institutions: https://www.desi.lbl.gov/collaborating-institutions. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the U.S. National Science Foundation, the U.S. Department of Energy, or any of the listed funding agencies.

The authors are honored to be permitted to conduct scientific research on Iolkam Du'ag (Kitt Peak), a mountain with particular significance to the Tohono O'odham Nation.

### References

- D.H. Weinberg, M.J. Mortonson, D.J. Eisenstein, C. Hirata, A.G. Riess and E. Rozo, Observational probes of cosmic acceleration, Phys. Rep. 530 (2013) 87 [1201.2434].
- [2] A. Albrecht, G. Bernstein, R. Cahn, W.L. Freedman, J. Hewitt, W. Hu et al., Report of the Dark Energy Task Force, arXiv e-prints (2006) astro [astro-ph/0609591].
- [3] D.J. Eisenstein, I. Zehavi, D.W. Hogg, R. Scoccimarro, M.R. Blanton, R.C. Nichol et al., Detection of the Baryon Acoustic Peak in the Large-Scale Correlation Function of SDSS Luminous Red Galaxies, ApJ 633 (2005) 560 [astro-ph/0501171].
- [4] S. Cole, W.J. Percival, J.A. Peacock, P. Norberg, C.M. Baugh, C.S. Frenk et al., The 2dF Galaxy Redshift Survey: power-spectrum analysis of the final data set and cosmological implications, MNRAS 362 (2005) 505 [astro-ph/0501174].
- [5] S. Alam, M. Ata, S. Bailey, F. Beutler, D. Bizyaev, J.A. Blazek et al., The clustering of galaxies in the completed SDSS-III Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: cosmological analysis of the DR12 galaxy sample, MNRAS 470 (2017) 2617 [1607.03155].
- [6] S. Alam, M. Aubert, S. Avila, C. Balland, J.E. Bautista, M.A. Bershady et al., Completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: Cosmological implications from two decades of spectroscopic surveys at the Apache Point Observatory, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 083533 [2007.08991].
- [7] DESI Collaboration, A. Aghamousa, J. Aguilar, S. Ahlen, S. Alam, L.E. Allen et al., The DESI Experiment Part I: Science, Targeting, and Survey Design, arXiv e-prints (2016) arXiv:1611.00036 [1611.00036].
- [8] M. Levi, C. Bebek, T. Beers, R. Blum, R. Cahn, D. Eisenstein et al., The DESI Experiment, a whitepaper for Snowmass 2013, arXiv e-prints (2013) arXiv:1308.0847 [1308.0847].

- [9] J. Moon, D. Valcin, M. Rashkovetskyi, C. Saulder, J.N. Aguilar, S. Ahlen et al., *First detection of the BAO signal from early DESI data*, MNRAS **525** (2023) 5406 [2304.08427].
- [10] M. Rashkovetskyi, D.J. Eisenstein, J.N. Aguilar, D. Brooks, T. Claybaugh, S. Cole et al., Validation of semi-analytical, semi-empirical covariance matrices for two-point correlation function for early DESI data, MNRAS 524 (2023) 3894 [2306.06320].
- [11] DESI Collaboration, A.G. Adame, J. Aguilar, S. Ahlen, S. Alam, G. Aldering et al., Validation of the Scientific Program for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ 167 (2024) 62 [2306.06307].
- [12] DESI Collaboration, A.G. Adame, J. Aguilar, S. Ahlen, S. Alam, G. Aldering et al., The Early Data Release of the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, arXiv e-prints (2023) arXiv:2306.06308 [2306.06308].
- [13] DESI Collaboration, A.G. Adame, J. Aguilar, S. Ahlen, S. Alam, D.M. Alexander et al., DESI 2024 III: Baryon Acoustic Oscillations from Galaxies and Quasars, arXiv e-prints (2024) arXiv:2404.03000 [2404.03000].
- [14] DESI Collaboration, A.G. Adame, J. Aguilar, S. Ahlen, S. Alam, D.M. Alexander et al., DESI 2024 VI: Cosmological Constraints from the Measurements of Baryon Acoustic Oscillations, arXiv e-prints (2024) arXiv:2404.03002 [2404.03002].
- [15] DESI Collaboration, DESI 2024 I: Data Release 1 of the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, in preparation (2025).
- [16] C. Alcock and B. Paczynski, An evolution free test for non-zero cosmological constant, Nature 281 (1979) 358.
- [17] D.J. Eisenstein, H.-J. Seo, E. Sirko and D.N. Spergel, Improving Cosmological Distance Measurements by Reconstruction of the Baryon Acoustic Peak, ApJ 664 (2007) 675 [astro-ph/0604362].
- [18] K. Thepsuriya and A. Lewis, Accuracy of cosmological parameters using the baryon acoustic scale, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2015 (2015) 034 [1409.5066].
- [19] B.D. Sherwin and M. White, The impact of wrong assumptions in BAO reconstruction, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2019 (2019) 027 [1808.04384].
- [20] P. Carter, F. Beutler, W.J. Percival, J. DeRose, R.H. Wechsler and C. Zhao, The impact of the fiducial cosmology assumption on BAO distance scale measurements, MNRAS 494 (2020) 2076 [1906.03035].
- [21] J.L. Bernal, T.L. Smith, K.K. Boddy and M. Kamionkowski, Robustness of baryon acoustic oscillation constraints for early-Universe modifications of ΛCDM cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 123515 [2004.07263].
- [22] J. Pan, D. Huterer, F. Andrade-Oliveira and C. Avestruz, Compressed baryon acoustic oscillation analysis is robust to modified-gravity models, arXiv e-prints (2023) arXiv:2312.05177 [2312.05177].
- [23] S. Sanz-Wuhl, H. Gil-Marín, A.J. Cuesta and L. Verde, BAO cosmology in non-spatially flat background geometry from BOSS+eBOSS and lessons for future surveys, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2024 (2024) 116 [2402.03427].
- [24] Planck Collaboration, N. Aghanim, Y. Akrami, M. Ashdown, J. Aumont, C. Baccigalupi et al., Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, A&A 641 (2020) A6 [1807.06209].
- [25] M. Vargas-Magaña, S. Ho, A.J. Cuesta, R. O'Connell, A.J. Ross, D.J. Eisenstein et al., The clustering of galaxies in the completed SDSS-III Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: theoretical systematics and Baryon Acoustic Oscillations in the galaxy correlation function, MNRAS 477 (2018) 1153 [1610.03506].

- [26] H. Gil-Marín, J.E. Bautista, R. Paviot, M. Vargas-Magaña, S. de la Torre, S. Fromenteau et al., The Completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the BAO and growth rate of structure of the luminous red galaxy sample from the anisotropic power spectrum between redshifts 0.6 and 1.0, MNRAS 498 (2020) 2492 [2007.08994].
- [27] J.E. Bautista, R. Paviot, M. Vargas Magaña, S. de la Torre, S. Fromenteau, H. Gil-Marín et al., The completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the BAO and growth rate of structure of the luminous red galaxy sample from the anisotropic correlation function between redshifts 0.6 and 1, MNRAS 500 (2021) 736 [2007.08993].
- [28] J. Hou, A.G. Sánchez, A.J. Ross, A. Smith, R. Neveux, J. Bautista et al., The completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: BAO and RSD measurements from anisotropic clustering analysis of the quasar sample in configuration space between redshift 0.8 and 2.2, MNRAS 500 (2021) 1201 [2007.08998].
- [29] R. Neveux, E. Burtin, A. de Mattia, A. Smith, A.J. Ross, J. Hou et al., The completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: BAO and RSD measurements from the anisotropic power spectrum of the quasar sample between redshift 0.8 and 2.2, MNRAS 499 (2020) 210 [2007.08999].
- [30] A. de Mattia, V. Ruhlmann-Kleider, A. Raichoor, A.J. Ross, A. Tamone, C. Zhao et al., The completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the BAO and growth rate of structure of the emission line galaxy sample from the anisotropic power spectrum between redshift 0.6 and 1.1, MNRAS 501 (2021) 5616 [2007.09008].
- [31] H. du Mas des Bourboux, J. Rich, A. Font-Ribera, V. de Sainte Agathe, J. Farr, T. Etourneau et al., The Completed SDSS-IV Extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: Baryon Acoustic Oscillations with Lyα Forests, ApJ 901 (2020) 153 [2007.08995].
- [32] S.-F. Chen, C. Howlett, M. White, P. McDonald, A.J. Ross, H.-J. Seo et al., Baryon Acoustic Oscillation Theory and Modelling Systematics for the DESI 2024 results, arXiv e-prints (2024) arXiv:2402.14070 [2402.14070].
- [33] X. Chen, Z. Ding, E. Paillas et al., Extensive analysis of reconstruction algorithms for DESI 2024 baryon acoustic oscillations, in preparation (2024).
- [34] E. Paillas, Z. Ding, X. Chen, H. Seo, N. Padmanabhan, A. de Mattia et al., Optimal Reconstruction of Baryon Acoustic Oscillations for DESI 2024, arXiv e-prints (2024) arXiv:2404.03005 [2404.03005].
- [35] D. Valcin et al., Combined tracer analysis for DESI 2024 BAO analysis, in preparation (2024).
- [36] D. Forero-Sanchez et al., Analytical and EZmock covariance validation for the DESI 2024 results, in preparation (2024).
- [37] M. Rashkovetskyi, D. Forero-Sánchez, A. de Mattia, D.J. Eisenstein, N. Padmanabhan, H. Seo et al., Semi-analytical covariance matrices for two-point correlation function for DESI 2024 data, arXiv e-prints (2024) arXiv:2404.03007 [2404.03007].
- [38] O. Alves et al., Analytical covariance matrices of DESI galaxy power spectra, in preparation (2024).
- [39] J. Mena-Fernández, C. Garcia-Quintero, S. Yuan, B. Hadzhiyska, O. Alves, M. Rashkovetskyi et al., HOD-Dependent Systematics for Luminous Red Galaxies in the DESI 2024 BAO Analysis, arXiv e-prints (2024) arXiv:2404.03008 [2404.03008].
- [40] C. Garcia-Quintero, J. Mena-Fernández, A. Rocher, S. Yuan, B. Hadzhiyska, O. Alves et al., HOD-Dependent Systematics in Emission Line Galaxies for the DESI 2024 BAO analysis, arXiv e-prints (2024) arXiv:2404.03009 [2404.03009].
- [41] A. Rosado-Marin et al., Mitigating Imaging Systematics for DESI DR1 Emission Line Galaxies and Beyond, in preparation (2024).

- [42] J. Yu, A.J. Ross, A. Rocher, O. Alves, A. de Mattia, D. Forero-Sánchez et al., ELG Spectroscopic Systematics Analysis of the DESI Data Release 1, arXiv e-prints (2024) arXiv:2405.16657 [2405.16657].
- [43] U. Andrade, J. Mena-Fernández, H. Awan, A.J. Ross, S. Brieden, J. Pan et al., Validating the Galaxy and Quasar Catalog-Level Blinding Scheme for the DESI 2024 analysis, arXiv e-prints (2024) arXiv:2404.07282 [2404.07282].
- [44] N.A. Maksimova, L.H. Garrison, D.J. Eisenstein, B. Hadzhiyska, S. Bose and T.P. Satterthwaite, ABACUSSUMMIT: a massive set of high-accuracy, high-resolution N-body simulations, MNRAS 508 (2021) 4017 [2110.11398].
- [45] E. Calabrese, R.A. Hložek, J.R. Bond, M.J. Devlin, J. Dunkley, M. Halpern et al., Cosmological parameters from pre-Planck CMB measurements: A 2017 update, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 063525 [1702.03272].
- [46] M. Chevallier and D. Polarski, Accelerating Universes with Scaling Dark Matter, International Journal of Modern Physics D 10 (2001) 213 [gr-qc/0009008].
- [47] E.V. Linder, Exploring the Expansion History of the Universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 90 (2003) 091301 [astro-ph/0208512].
- [48] S.-F. Chen, Z. Vlah and M. White, The reconstructed power spectrum in the Zeldovich approximation, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2019 (2019) 017 [1907.00043].
- [49] A.G. Sánchez, Arguments against using  $h^{-1}$  Mpc units in observational cosmology, Phys. Rev. D **102** (2020) 123511 [2002.07829].
- [50] C. Zhao et al., Mock catalogues with survey realism for the DESI DR1, in preparation (2024).
- [51] B. Hadzhiyska, D. Eisenstein, S. Bose, L.H. Garrison and N. Maksimova, COMPASO: A new halo finder for competitive assignment to spherical overdensities, MNRAS 509 (2022) 501 [2110.11408].
- [52] S. Bose, D.J. Eisenstein, B. Hadzhiyska, L.H. Garrison and S. Yuan, Constructing high-fidelity halo merger trees in ABACUSSUMMIT, MNRAS 512 (2022) 837 [2110.11409].
- [53] S. Yuan, L.H. Garrison, B. Hadzhiyska, S. Bose and D.J. Eisenstein, ABACUSHOD: a highly efficient extended multitracer HOD framework and its application to BOSS and eBOSS data, MNRAS 510 (2022) 3301 [2110.11412].
- [54] A. Rocher, V. Ruhlmann-Kleider, E. Burtin, S. Yuan, A. de Mattia, A.J. Ross et al., The DESI One-Percent survey: exploring the Halo Occupation Distribution of Emission Line Galaxies with AbacusSummit simulations, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2023 (2023) 016 [2306.06319].
- [55] S. Yuan, H. Zhang, A.J. Ross, J. Donald-McCann, B. Hadzhiyska, R.H. Wechsler et al., The DESI one-per cent survey: exploring the halo occupation distribution of luminous red galaxies and quasi-stellar objects with ABACUSSUMMIT, MNRAS 530 (2024) 947 [2306.06314].
- [56] A. Smith, C. Grove, S. Cole, P. Norberg, P. Zarrouk, S. Yuan et al., Generating mock galaxy catalogues for flux-limited samples like the DESI Bright Galaxy Survey, arXiv e-prints (2023) arXiv:2312.08792 [2312.08792].
- [57] D. Bianchi et al., Characterization of DESI fiber assignment incompleteness effect on 2-point clustering and mitigation methods for 2024 analysis, in preparation (2024).
- [58] A.J. Ross, J. Aguilar, S. Ahlen, S. Alam, A. Anand, S. Bailey et al., The Construction of Large-scale Structure Catalogs for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, arXiv e-prints (2024) arXiv:2405.16593 [2405.16593].
- [59] DESI Collaboration, A. Aghamousa, J. Aguilar, S. Ahlen, S. Alam, L.E. Allen et al., The DESI Experiment Part II: Instrument Design, arXiv e-prints (2016) arXiv:1611.00037 [1611.00037].

- [60] J.H. Silber, P. Fagrelius, K. Fanning, M. Schubnell, J.N. Aguilar, S. Ahlen et al., The Robotic Multiobject Focal Plane System of the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument (DESI), AJ 165 (2023) 9 [2205.09014].
- [61] T.N. Miller, P. Doel, G. Gutierrez, R. Besuner, D. Brooks, G. Gallo et al., The Optical Corrector for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, arXiv e-prints (2023) arXiv:2306.06310 [2306.06310].
- [62] E.F. Schlafly, D. Kirkby, D.J. Schlegel, A.D. Myers, A. Raichoor, K. Dawson et al., Survey Operations for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ 166 (2023) 259 [2306.06309].
- [63] DESI Collaboration, B. Abareshi, J. Aguilar, S. Ahlen, S. Alam, D.M. Alexander et al., Overview of the Instrumentation for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ 164 (2022) 207 [2205.10939].
- [64] J. Guy, S. Bailey, A. Kremin, S. Alam, D.M. Alexander, C. Allende Prieto et al., The Spectroscopic Data Processing Pipeline for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ 165 (2023) 144 [2209.14482].
- [65] DESI Collaboration, DESI 2024 II: Sample definitions, characteristics and two-point clustering statistics, in preparation (2024).
- [66] S. Brieden, H. Gil-Marín, L. Verde and J.L. Bernal, Blind Observers of the Sky, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2020 (2020) 052 [2006.10857].
- [67] E. Chaussidon, A. de Mattia, C. Yèche, J. Aguilar, S. Ahlen, D. Brooks et al., Blinding scheme for the scale-dependence bias signature of local primordial non-Gaussianity for DESI 2024, arXiv e-prints (2024) arXiv:2406.00191 [2406.00191].
- [68] N. Hand, Y. Li, Z. Slepian and U. Seljak, An optimal FFT-based anisotropic power spectrum estimator, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2017 (2017) 002 [1704.02357].
- [69] F. Beutler and P. McDonald, Unified galaxy power spectrum measurements from 6dFGS, BOSS, and eBOSS, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2021 (2021) 031 [2106.06324].
- [70] S.D. Landy and A.S. Szalay, Bias and Variance of Angular Correlation Functions, ApJ 412 (1993) 64.
- [71] E. Keihänen, H. Kurki-Suonio, V. Lindholm, A. Viitanen, A.S. Suur-Uski, V. Allevato et al., Estimating the galaxy two-point correlation function using a split random catalog, A&A 631 (2019) A73 [1905.01133].
- [72] D. Wadekar and R. Scoccimarro, Galaxy power spectrum multipoles covariance in perturbation theory, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 123517 [1910.02914].
- [73] C. Hikage, R. Takahashi and K. Koyama, Covariance of the redshift-space matter power spectrum after reconstruction, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 083514 [2007.13998].
- [74] O.H.E. Philcox, D.J. Eisenstein, R. O'Connell and A. Wiegand, RascalC: a jackknife approach to estimating single- and multitracer galaxy covariance matrices, MNRAS 491 (2020) 3290 [1904.11070].
- [75] A. Burden, W.J. Percival and C. Howlett, Reconstruction in Fourier space, MNRAS 453 (2015) 456 [1504.02591].
- [76] F. James and M. Roos, Minuit a system for function minimization and analysis of the parameter errors and correlations, Computer Physics Communications 10 (1975) 343.
- [77] D. Foreman-Mackey, D.W. Hogg, D. Lang and J. Goodman, *emcee: The MCMC Hammer*, PASP **125** (2013) 306 [1202.3665].
- [78] D. Baumann, D. Green and M. Zaldarriaga, Phases of New Physics in the BAO Spectrum, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2017 (2017) 007 [1703.00894].

- [79] D. Baumann, D. Green and B. Wallisch, Searching for light relics with large-scale structure, J. Cosmology Astropart. Phys. 2018 (2018) 029 [1712.08067].
- [80] D. Baumann, F. Beutler, R. Flauger, D. Green, A. Slosar, M. Vargas-Magaña et al., First constraint on the neutrino-induced phase shift in the spectrum of baryon acoustic oscillations, Nature Physics 15 (2019) 465 [1803.10741].
- [81] A.G. Sánchez, C.M. Baugh and R.E. Angulo, What is the best way to measure baryonic acoustic oscillations?, MNRAS 390 (2008) 1470 [0804.0233].
- [82] D.J. Eisenstein and W. Hu, Baryonic Features in the Matter Transfer Function, ApJ 496 (1998) 605 [astro-ph/9709112].

#### A Geometrical distortions in configuration space

Under the AP change of coordinates, the two point correlation function transforms as:

$$\xi^{\rm obs}(s,\nu) = \xi(s'[s,\nu;q_{\rm iso},q_{\rm AP}],\nu'[s,\nu:q_{\rm iso},q_{\rm AP}]),\tag{A.1}$$

with

$$s'(s,\nu;q_{\rm iso},q_{\rm AP}) = \frac{q_{\rm iso}s}{q_{\rm AP}^{1/3}} \left[1 + \nu^2 (q_{\rm AP}^2 - 1)\right]^{1/2},\tag{A.2}$$

$$\nu'(s,\nu,q_{\rm iso},q_{\rm AP}) = q_{\rm AP}\nu \frac{1}{\left[1+\nu^2(q_{\rm AP}^2-1)\right]^{1/2}},\tag{A.3}$$

where  $\nu$  is the cosine of the angle between the separation vector and the line of sight. The primed coordinates denote the true coordinates, while the unprimed coordinates denote the grid coordinates.

## **B** Effect of $N_{\text{eff}}$ in the template

The impact of  $N_{\rm eff}$  on the scale-dependent phase of the BAO in the matter power spectrum has been extensively studied in recent years [78, 79] and has even been exploited to constrain  $N_{\rm eff}$  itself from an 'extended' BAO analysis [80]. The technicalities are beyond the scope of this paper, we instead focus on the possible effect within the standard BAO analysis. In brief, the change in shape and position of the BAO signal in the template due to the phase shift induced by varying  $N_{\rm eff}$  is not completely captured by the  $r_d^{\rm tem}/r_d$  rescaling, resulting in potential residual biases when fitting for the  $\alpha$  dilation parameters. In fact, the role of the scale-dependant phase in the matter power spectrum is more general and it translates into a mismatch between the nominal sound horizon  $r_d$  (as calculated from a Boltzmann code) and the BAO peak in the correlation function [81, 82]. Past studies have tested the accuracy of the  $r_d$  rescaling assumption by considering extreme scenarios [18, 21]. In particular, [18] reported biases of at most 0.15% for cases with  $\Delta N_{\rm eff}$  as large as 2 and a similar result when varying the sum of neutrino masses  $\sum m_{\nu}$ .

In order to observe the shift in the template for our high- $N_{\rm eff}$  cosmology, one can consider the heuristic exercise of calculating the 2-point correlation function from the  $P_{\rm w}(k)$ component of the power spectrum and compare the peak position after rescaling by the sound horizon ratio (analogous to Fig. 2). The bottom panel of Figure 11 compares the positions of the BAO peak after being rescaled by  $r_d^{\rm tem}/r_d^{\rm baseline}$  for the 5 cosmologies considered.



Figure 11. Top: Two point correlation function (2PCF) at z = 0.8 computed by Hankel transforming the  $P_{\rm w}(k)$  component of the linear power spectrum from CLASS. The dotted lines indicate the local maximum in the 2PCF. Bottom: Analogous to the top panel, but with the distances rescaled by  $r_d/r_d^{\rm baseline}$ . A shift for the high- $N_{\rm eff}$  cosmology is noticeable by eye, as opposed to Figure 2, where the phase shift is not straightforward to spot. The position of the local maximum is off by 0.12% for the high- $N_{\rm eff}$  cosmology.

# C Author Affiliations

- <sup>1</sup>Max Planck Institute for Extraterrestrial Physics, Gießenbachstraße 1, 85748 Garching, Germany
- <sup>2</sup>Instituto de Física, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Cd. de México C.P. 04510, México
- <sup>3</sup>Department of Physics, The University of Texas at Dallas, Richardson, TX 75080, USA
- <sup>4</sup>Centre for Astrophysics & Supercomputing, Swinburne University of Technology, P.O. Box 218, Hawthorn, VIC 3122, Australia
- <sup>5</sup>School of Mathematics and Physics, University of Queensland, 4072, Australia
- <sup>6</sup>Department of Physics & Astronomy, Ohio University, Athens, OH 45701, USA
- <sup>7</sup>Physics Department, Yale University, P.O. Box 208120, New Haven, CT 06511, USA
- <sup>8</sup>Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 1 Cyclotron Road, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA
- <sup>9</sup>Physics Dept., Boston University, 590 Commonwealth Avenue, Boston, MA 02215, USA
- <sup>10</sup>Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Homi Bhabha Road, Mumbai 400005, India
- <sup>11</sup>University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA
- <sup>12</sup>Institute for Astronomy, University of Edinburgh, Royal Observatory, Blackford Hill, Edinburgh EH9 3HJ, UK
- <sup>13</sup>Department of Physics & Astronomy, University College London, Gower Street, London, WC1E 6BT, UK
- <sup>14</sup>Departamento de Astrofísica, Universidad de La Laguna (ULL), E-38206, La Laguna, Tenerife, Spain
- <sup>15</sup>Instituto de Astrofísica de Canarias, C/ Vía Láctea, s/n, E-38205 La Laguna, Tenerife, Spain
- <sup>16</sup>Institute for Computational Cosmology, Department of Physics, Durham University, South Road, Durham DH1 3LE, UK
- <sup>17</sup>Department of Physics and Astronomy, The University of Utah, 115 South 1400 East, Salt Lake City, UT 84112, USA
- <sup>18</sup>IRFU, CEA, Université Paris-Saclay, F-91191 Gif-sur-Yvette, France
- <sup>19</sup>NSF NOIRLab, 950 N. Cherry Ave., Tucson, AZ 85719, USA
- <sup>20</sup>Department of Astronomy, School of Physics and Astronomy, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai 200240, China
- <sup>21</sup>Kavli Institute for Particle Astrophysics and Cosmology, Stanford University, Menlo Park, CA 94305, USA
- <sup>22</sup>SLAC National Accelerator Laboratory, Menlo Park, CA 94305, USA
- <sup>23</sup>Institut d'Estudis Espacials de Catalunya (IEEC), 08034 Barcelona, Spain
- <sup>24</sup>Institute of Cosmology and Gravitation, University of Portsmouth, Dennis Sciama Building, Portsmouth, PO1 3FX, UK
- <sup>25</sup>Institute of Space Sciences, ICE-CSIC, Campus UAB, Carrer de Can Magrans s/n, 08913 Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain
- <sup>26</sup>Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory, PO Box 500, Batavia, IL 60510, USA
- <sup>27</sup>Center for Cosmology and AstroParticle Physics, The Ohio State University, 191 West Woodruff Avenue, Columbus, OH 43210, USA
- <sup>28</sup>Department of Physics, The Ohio State University, 191 West Woodruff Avenue, Columbus, OH 43210, USA
- <sup>29</sup>The Ohio State University, Columbus, 43210 OH, USA

<sup>30</sup>Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of California, Irvine, 92697, USA

- <sup>31</sup>Department of Physics, Southern Methodist University, 3215 Daniel Avenue, Dallas, TX 75275, USA
- <sup>32</sup>Sorbonne Université, CNRS/IN2P3, Laboratoire de Physique Nucléaire et de Hautes Energies (LPNHE), FR-75005 Paris, France
- <sup>33</sup>Departament de Física, Serra Húnter, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, 08193 Bellaterra (Barcelona), Spain
- <sup>34</sup>Institut de Física d'Altes Energies (IFAE), The Barcelona Institute of Science and Technology, Campus UAB, 08193 Bellaterra Barcelona, Spain
- <sup>35</sup>Department of Astronomy, The Ohio State University, 4055 McPherson Laboratory, 140 W 18th Avenue, Columbus, OH 43210, USA
- <sup>36</sup>Laboratoire de Physique Subatomique et de Cosmologie, 53 Avenue des Martyrs, 38000 Grenoble, France
- <sup>37</sup>Institució Catalana de Recerca i Estudis Avançats, Passeig de Lluís Companys, 23, 08010 Barcelona, Spain
- <sup>38</sup>Department of Physics and Astronomy, Siena College, 515 Loudon Road, Loudonville, NY 12211, USA
- <sup>39</sup>Department of Physics & Astronomy, University of Wyoming, 1000 E. University, Dept. 3905, Laramie, WY 82071, USA
- <sup>40</sup>Department of Physics & Astronomy and Pittsburgh Particle Physics, Astrophysics, and Cosmology Center (PITT PACC), University of Pittsburgh, 3941 O'Hara Street, Pittsburgh, PA 15260, USA
- <sup>41</sup>Departamento de Física, Universidad de Guanajuato DCI, C.P. 37150, Leon, Guanajuato, México
- <sup>42</sup>Instituto Avanzado de Cosmología A. C., San Marcos 11 Atenas 202. Magdalena Contreras, 10720. Ciudad de México, México
- <sup>43</sup>Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Waterloo, 200 University Ave W, Waterloo, ON N2L 3G1, Canada
- <sup>44</sup>Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics, University of Waterloo, 200 University Ave W, Waterloo, ON N2L 3G1, Canada
- <sup>45</sup>Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics, 31 Caroline St. North, Waterloo, ON N2L 2Y5, Canada
- <sup>46</sup>Space Sciences Laboratory, University of California, Berkeley, 7 Gauss Way, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA
- <sup>47</sup>University of California, Berkeley, 110 Sproul Hall #5800 Berkeley, CA 94720, USA
- <sup>48</sup>Instituto de Astrofísica de Andalucía (CSIC), Glorieta de la Astronomía, s/n, E-18008 Granada, Spain
- <sup>49</sup>Center for Astrophysics | Harvard & Smithsonian, 60 Garden Street, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA
- <sup>50</sup>Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, CH-1015 Lausanne, Switzerland
- <sup>51</sup>Department of Physics and Astronomy, Sejong University, Seoul, 143-747, Korea
- <sup>52</sup>CIEMAT, Avenida Complutense 40, E-28040 Madrid, Spain
- <sup>53</sup>Department of Physics, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA
- <sup>54</sup>National Astronomical Observatories, Chinese Academy of Sciences, A20 Datun Rd., Chaoyang District, Beijing, 100012, P.R. China